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WO
IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
FOR THE DISTRICT OF ARIZONA
Joe Hand Promotions Incorporated, No. CV-14-02043PHX-JAT
Plaintiff, ORDER
V.

Lisa Marie Donaldson, et al.,

Defendants.

Pending before the Court is Plaintiffs Motion for Summary Judgn{éms
“Motion”) (Doc. 28), to which Defendants, whare pro se have failed to file any
response in opposition. Having considered the Motion in light of the relevant recort

Court finds that there iso genuinalispute as to material fact and tiRdaintiff is entitled

to the entry of judgment in its favor as a matter of law pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 56,

l. BACKGROUND

For purposes of the Courtresoluton of the pending Motion, the Court conside
the relevant facts and background, viewed in Defendant’s faedoe as follows.

This action arises from the alleged unlawful interception and broadcast o

Ultimate Fighting Championship 165: Jon Jones v. Alexander Gustafssoainafter

_ ' In the summary judgment context, the Court construes all disputed facts i
I(| Ip]tcr:nosé(l;%\élgrable to the nemoving party. Ellison v. Robertsogn357 F.3d 1072, 1075
th Cir. .

> The Court notes that Plaintiff's Statement of Facts (Doc. 29) is %rimaril ba
on Defendants’ admissionisiter alia, to Plaintiff's Requests for Admissioif®oc. 283
at 8-36), to which Defendants failed to respond.
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“the Program”) atCrossroads Bar & Grilbn September 21, 201@oc. 29at 2. Joe
Hand Promotions Inghereinafter “Plaintiff”) is a business that distributes the rights
pay-perview events tocommercia entities for a fee. (Doc. 28 at 1}2). Plaintiff
purports to have been granted the exclusive commerdiatribution rights to the
Program.(Doc. 29 at 2). The Program was telecast nationwide via closadt
television and included “the main event between Jones and Gustafsson, as well
undercard bouts and commentary encompassed in the television broadcast of the
(Id. at 1).

On September 21, 201the Program was exhibited on televisions at Crossro
Bar & Grill, a commercial establishment located at 5030 W. McDowell Road, 1
Phoenix, Arizona 85035D0c. 29 at 2 (Doc. 282 at 2). Plaintiff did not authorize
Crossroads Bar & Grill to broadcast any portion of the Program. (Doc. 29. a
Defendantisa Marie Donaldson, the general partaad manageof Crossroads B & G
Family Limited Partnershipd/b/a Crossroads Bar & Grill on September 21, 2013,
alsonot authorized to exhibit the Progrand.(at 2-3). Defendantisa Marie Donaldson
was inside Crossroads Bar & Grill at the time of the broadcast of the Progplaat. ).

Defendants were aware that a commerciatisidnsing fee had to be paid to Plaintiff t

to
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lawfully broadcasthe Program at Crossroads Bar & Grill, but Defendants did not obtain

such a licenseld.)

On Septemér 15, 2014, Plaintiff filed a @nplaint againslames R. Lumley,
individually and as an officer of Crossroads Bar & Guaild against Crossroads B & C
Limited Partnership, d/b/a Crossroads Bar & Grill. (Doc. 1). On January 1§, 2
Plaintiff filed an Amended Complaint against Lisa Marie Donaldson individually and
an officer of Crossroads Bar & Grill, and against Crossroads B & G Limited Partner
d/b/a Crossroads Bar & Grill. (Doc. 10Rlaintiffs Amended Complaint alleges claim
under Title 47 U.S.C. 8 605 (2014) and Title 47 U.S.€.553 (2014) (Id.). The

Amended Complaint furthenaintainsthat Plaintiff is entitled to statutory damages in tf

amount of $110,008s to each Defendant as a result of Defendants’ violation of § 60b
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statutory darages in the amount of $60,086 a result of Defendants’ violation of § 553.

(Id. at 8). Finally, the Complaint alleges that the unlawful exhibition of the Program by

Defendants was done willfully and for purposes of commercial advantage and/or p
financial gain. [d. at 5.

Plaintiff served Defendants with the summons and the Complaint. (Dot.isy.

Marie Donaldsonpro se filed an answer (Doc. 14n March 18, 2015. In her answef

rivat

Lisa Marie Donaldson admitted that the Program “was purchased and showed at 5030 \

McDowell, #39 Ph[oeni]x, AZ 85035 the address of Crossroads Bar & Gfild.).

However, Defendantissertedthat Plaintiff is not entitled to judgment because t

Program was only “viewed by the staff and friends,” and “there was no monetary gain.

(1d.)

Though Defendant Lisa Marie Donaldson filed an answer to tmaptint, the

Court notes that she thereafter failed to appear for the Rule 16 Scheduling Conferen

held on May 6, 2015. (Doc. 21). Plaintiff served its requests for admission
Defendants on July 30, 201but Defendants never responded to them; one set of
admissions requests was directed to Defendant Lisa Marie Donaldson and one S
directed to Defendant Crossroads B & G Limited Partnership. (Do8 &8 8-36).
Plaintiff filed its Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 28) on January 8, 2016,
Defendants have also failed to resptmthis Motion.
. SUMMARY JUDGMENT STANDARD

Summary judgment is appropriate when “the movant shows that there i
genuine dispute as to any material fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a
of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a). A’ party asserting that a fact cannot be or is genuin
disputed must support the assertion by . . . citing to particular parts of materials
record,”or by “showing that the materials cited do not establish the absence or pre
of a genuine dispet” Id. at 56(c)(1)(A-B). Accordingly, summary judgment ig
mandated “against a party who fails to make a showing sufficient to establist

existence of an element essential to that party’s case, and on which that party wi

5 Of
the

et v

but

mat
ely
n th

Sen

1 th
| be




© 00 N o o B~ W N B

N N DD NN NNNDNRRRRER R R B R R
W N o g N~ W NP O © 0 N O 0o M W N PRk O

the burden of proof at trialCelotex Corp. v. Catretd77 U.S. 317, 322 (1986).

The moving party initially has the burden to show that material facts are
genuinely disputedd. at 323. Once the moving party meets this burden, the nonmo
party must then establish the existence of material fact by presenting evidence sHh
that there is a genuine issue for a flaotler to resolve at trialAnderson v. Liberty
Lobby, Inc, 477 U.S. 242, 24819 (1986). The noamovant “must do more than simply
show that there is some metaphysical doubt as to the material facts” by “con
forward with ‘specific facts showing that there ige@nuineissue for trial’”” Matsushita
Elec. Indus. Co. v. Zenith Radio Cqrg.75 U.S. 574, 5887 (1986) (quoting Fed. R.
Civ. P. 56(e) (1963) (amended 2010)). A dispute abaonairialfact is “genuine” if the
“evidence is such that a reasonable jury could return a verdict for thmowing party:
Anderson v. Liberty Lobby, Inc477 U.S. at 248. The nenovant’s bare assertions
standing ane, or “the mere existence ddomealleged factual dispute between th
parties” isinsufficient to create a material issue of fantidefeat a ration for summary
judgment.ld. at 247248. Further, because “[c]redibility determinations, the weighing
the evidence, and the drawing of legitimate inferences from the facts are jury func
not those of a judge, . . . [tlhe evidence of the nonmovant is to be believed, a
justifiable inferences are to be drawn in his favor” at the summary judgmget Istaat
255 (citing Adickes v. S.H. Kress & Go398 U.S. 144, 15859 (1970Q); Harris v.
Itzhaki 183 F.3d 1043, 1051 (9th Cir. 1999) (“Issues of credibility, including quest
of intent, should be left to the jury.”) (internal citations omitted).

. DISCUSSION

Plaintiff's Amended Complaint alleges two counts: 1) violation of 47 U.S.C.

605; and 2) violation of 47 U.S.C. 8§ 55®oc. 10). However, the Plaintiff is only
seeking summary judgment damagesler47 U.S.C. 8 605, as well as an award of co
and reasonable attorneys’ fég@®oc. 28-1 at 20).

* The Court notes that it is “rathevell-established that courts will not awar
damages under both § 605 and § 553 on a set of facts” similar to that in thidoeas
Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Streshlg55 F. Supp. 2d 1136, 1137 (S.D. Cal. 20@®e
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Defendants’ Failure to Respond to the Motion

Where the nommovant fails to respond to the movant’s Motion for Summg
Judgment, the Court is not required to grant the Motion, even in light of Local Rulg
Civil Procedure providing “that the Court may deem a party’s failure to respond [. .
consent to the granting of the motibririnkle v. RyanCV-14-01343PHX-DGC, 2016
WL 1241878, at *3 (D. Ariz. Mar. 30, 2016) (findirtigat gaintiff’'s failure to respond to
defendants’ motion for summary judgment did not warrant granting the motion de
Local Rule of Civil Procedure 7.2(i)).The Ninth Circuithasclarified that such local
rules cannot provide a valid basis for granting a motion for summary judgmenttivhe
motion is unopposed, as Federal Rule of Civil Proce@@reauthorizes the court to
consider a fact as undisputed,” but does not allow the court to grant summary jud
by default. Heinemann v. Satterber@31 F.3d 914, 917 (9th Cir. 2013) (finding ths
Western District of Washington Local Rule 7(b)(2) conflicts with Federal Rule of C
Procedure56 and “cannot provide a valid basis for granting a motion for sumn
judgment). Accordingly, the Court will address thmoving party’s motion, in such g
case, on the meritginkle, 2016 WL1241878, at *3.

Here, Defendants have failed to respond to Plaintiff®tn or file a brief in
opposition to the Motion for Summarydgment Regardless of this fact, the Courtyma
not grant summary judgment by default against Defendants. Rather, the Court ma|

grant a Motion for Summary Judgment‘there is no genuine issue as to any matel

fact and the movant is entitled to judgment as a matter of law.” Fed. R. Civ. P. 56(a).

Defendants’ Failure to Respond to Plaintiff's Requests for Admissions

Time Warner Cable of New York City v. Googies Luncheonette,7/In¢. Supp 2d 485,
489 (S.D.N.Y. 1999) (“Where a defendant is liable under both § 553 and § 6
plaintiff is entitled to have damages awarded under 605 which é)rowdes for gr
recovery.”);Joe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Daile§-01-4219CRB, 2003 WL 1342998,
at *2-3 {N.D. Cal. Mar. 13, 2003) éadoptlng Second Circuit rule followe@angiesand
declining to award damages under both statutes absent “either egreglous or ur
circumstances)See also KingvisioPay-PerView, Ltd. v. Backmanl02 F. Supp. 2d
1196, 1197 (N.D. Cal. 2000) (“[W]hen liability exists under both provisions, the majd
of courts—including most courts in the Ninth Circdithave imposed damages ‘pursua
to 8 605 alone rather than cumulatively.”) (citiKgngvision PayPer View v. AriasC-
99-3017-SI, 2000 WL 20973 at *2 n. 7 (N.D. Cal. Jan 7, 2000)).
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Plaintiff alleges that it is entitled to summary judgméeicause‘Defendants
[have] failed to respond to [the] Request for Admissions and, therefore, Defendants
admitted liability herein.” (Doc. 281 at 10 As a result, Plaintiff contends that
Defendants’ admissiongiter alia, establish that “there is no genuine issue of matefi

fact regarding whether Defendants unlawfully intercepted and bropetjase program

at their commercial establishmen{Doc. 281 at7-10. This Court agrees, as each of

the relevant facts necessary to establish Defendants’ liability under 47 U.S.Ch8w&0%
been conclusively established as a result of Defendants’ féaduespond to the request
for admissions. See Conlon v. United States474 F.3d 616, 621 (9th Cir. 2007

92

ha

al

(“Unanswered requests for admissions may be relied on as the basis for grantir

summary judgment.”)t.ayton v. Int'l Ass'n of Machinists & Aerospadéorkers 285 F.
App’x 340, 341 (9th Cir. 2008) (holding thaft]'he district court did not err when i

deemed facts admitted because of [plaingffpellant’s] failure to timely respond tg

requests for admission” as a basis for entry of summary judgment in favor of defendan

appellee).

Pursuant to Federal Rule @&ivil Procedure36, a matter is deemed admitted

unless “the party to whom the request is directed serves on the requesting party a pritt

answer or objection addressed to the matter and slgndte party or its attorney.” Fed

R. Civ. P. 36a)(3) Plaintiff served Requests for Admissions on each Defendant on[July

30, 2015, but, as of the current date, Defendants have not responded to Plaintiff

Requestdor Admissions. (Doc. 28 at 10). Accordingly, because Defendants hgve

failed to respond within the statutorily required time frame, Plaintiff's Requests
Admissions are deemed admitted. Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(a)(3).

While it is undisputed that the Program was shav@rossroads Bar &rill on
September 21, 201@oc. 29at 2) (Doc. 14at 1), Defendant Lisa Marie Donaldsomn
indicated in her answer that “the fight was purchds#dvas “viewed by the staff and
friends, [and] there was no monetary gain.” (Docal4). Though these stéaentsby

Defendandirectly contradict Plaintiff's allegations thBefendants unlawfullglisplayed

for
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the Program “willfully and for purposes of direct and/or indirect commercial advan
and/or private financial gain(Doc. 10 at 5the Court notes théfe]vidence inconsistent
with a Rule 36 admission is properly exclude®99 v. C.I.T. Corp.776 F.2d 866, 869
70 (9th Cir. 1985)(citing Fed. R. Civ. P. 36(b) advisory committee note (197®¢e
alsoGTE Directories Corp. v. McCartneg1 F. App’x 735, 737 (9th Cir. 200{holding
that it is appropriate to grant summary judgment where defendantmoemg party’s
submission of admissible evidence allegedly contradicts the deemed admission

where defendant nemoving party has failed to withdraw these admissions under R

36(b)). Here, Defendants have failed to filRale 36(b) motion to withdraw admissions

Accordingly, this Courtfinds that it is appropriate to grant summary judgment ev
though Defendant Lisa Marie Donaldson’s statements in her answer directly cont
the deemed admissions.

Plaintiff’'s Claim U nder 47 U.S.C. 8 605

Unless one of the exceptions described in subsection (b)‘afijille 47 of the

United States Code Section 605 provides, in part, that the following practices

prohibited:
No person not being authorized by the sender shall intercept
any radio communication and divulge or publish the
existence, contents, substance, purport, effect, or meaning of
such intercepted communication to any person. No person
not being entitled thereto shall receive or assist in receiving
any interstate or foreign communication by radio and use
such communication (or any information therein contained)
for his own benefit or for the benefit of another not entitled
thereto. No person having received any intercepted radio
communication or having become acquainted with the

* Subsection (b) of 47 U.S.C. § 605, provides that, “[t]he grovisio_ns of subse
(a) of this section shall not apply to the interception or rece|‘o_t y any individual, of
assisting [ . . .] of such interception or receipt, of any satellite cable programmin
private viewing [. . . ].47 U.S.C. § 605%2 (g:mphass added). The Court notes tha
exceptions in subsection (b) of 473JC. 8605 do not ap|iJIy to this case, as Defendan
exhibition of the Program at Crossroads Bar & Gril _
Specifically, sibsection (d)(4) of sectio®05 provides that the “the term ‘private
viewing’ means the viewing for privatese in an individual’s dwelling unit [. . .”]. 47
U.S.C. § 605(d)(4).

-7 -
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contents, substance, purport, effect, or meaning of such
communication (or any part thereof) knowing that such
communication was intercepted, shall divulge or publish the
existence, contents, substance, purport, effect, or meaning of
such communication(or any part thereof) or use such
communication (or any information therein contained) for his
own benefit or for the benefit of another not entitled thereto.

47 U.S.C. § 605(a).

Though Section 605(a) of Title 47 of the United States Code does not explicitly

reference satellite communications, satellite television signals are among
communications protected by this statudaectv, Inc. v. Webp545 F.3d 837, 844 (9th
Cir. 2008);See also Kingvision Pay Per View, Ltd.Guzman No. CV-07-0963PHX-
PGR, 2008 WL 1924988, at *1 (DAriz. Apr. 30, 2008)(“The position taken by a
majority of courts is that signals broadcast through the air via radio and satellit
generally within the purview of § 605, including programming transmitted via satelli
cable operators for their transmission to cable subscribers.”). Further, due to the se
nature of signal piracy ventures, 47 U.S.G0®(a) “does not require direct evidence
support a factual finding,” as “[c]ircumstantial evidence may be sufficiently persuag
to prove unlawful interception.Directv, Inc. v. Webb 545 F.3d aB844. Finally, 47
U.S.C. 8§ 605 also provides that “any person with proprietary rights in the intercg
communication by wire or radio” may file a “civil action in a United States dist
court.”47 U.S.C. 8§ 60&)(6), (e)(3)(A).

Here,Plaintiff’'s claim inthe Amended Complaint under 47 U.S.C. 8§ 605 alleg
that Defendants “did unlawfully intercept, receive, publish, divulge, and/or exhibit

Programat the time of its transmission” at Crossroads Bar & Gaill] that they did so

“[w] ith full knowledge that thérogramwas not to be intercepted, received, publishe¢

divulged, and/or exhibited by commercial entities unauthorizethtso.” (Doc. 10 at 5).
This Complaint also alleges that this unauthorized exhibition of the Program “by ea
the Defendants was done willfully and for purposes of direct and/or indirect comme

advantage and/or private financial gaind.).

the

e ar
e to
creti
to

ive”

ppte

rict

jes
the

:d’

ch c

rcia




© 00 N o o B~ W N B

N N DD NN NNNDNRRRRER R R B R R
W N o g N~ W NP O © 0 N O 0o M W N PRk O

Defendants’ here have failed respond to the plaintiff's Motion forusmary
Judgment as well as the requests for admissions. Accordingly, this Court agrees
Plaintiff that Defendant$ave admittedinter alia, each of the necessary facts required
find Defendantdiable under 47 U.S.C. 05 by failing to respond to Plaintiff's request
for admissionsSeefed. R. Civ. P. 36(a)(3)Specifically, Defendants have admitted ea
of the following, as discussed in Plaintiff's Brief in Support of Motion for Summj

Judgment:
(a) They were the owner (Crossroads B&G Family Limited
Partnership) and officer/manager (Lisa Marie Donaldson
a/k/a Lisa Marie Warren) of Crossroads Bar & Grill when the
Program vas broadcast, and any personthatestablishment
serving as bartenders or managers were acting on their behalf.
(b) Lisa Marie Donaldsoh . ] was present inside Crossroads
Bar & Grill when the Program was broadcast.
(c) Defendants did not order the Program from Plaintiff.
(d) Defendants did not pay a licensing fee to Plaintiff.
(e) Defendants intercepted and broadcastedPtlogramat
Crossroads Bar & Grill [. . .] willfully.
(f) Defendants were aware that a licensing fee had to be paid
to Plaintiff for the Program.
(9) TheProgramwas received because an illegal decoder was
used in Crossroads Bar & Grill, a satellite access card
programmed to enable receipt of satellite service without
proper authorization or payment was utilized, and/or
Defendants ordered the Program from a programming
provider (e.g., DISH Network, DirecTV) and paid the
provider the residential license fee for the Program.
(h) Defendants’ obtained the Program by illegal means and
intentionally broadcast the Program by deception, and for
financial gain.

(Doc. 28-1 at 10-11).

These facts admitted by Dehdants conclusivelyprove each of Plaintiff's
allegations in its Complaint anestablishthat Defendantainlawfully intercepted and
profited from thellegal broadcasting of the Program at Crossroads Bar & Grilicther,
Plaintiff has established that it holds the proprietary rights to the intercepted Pro
(Doc. 284 at 9-34). Accordingly, Defendantsre liable under 47 U.S.C. § 605 an
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Plaintiff is entitled to an award aflamages.Further Defendants have not responded apd
have not established the existence of any disputed fact. As a result, Plaintiff is entifled
summary judgment on its claim under § 605.

Damages

Under Title 47 of the United States Code Section 605, the Court may awarc
statutory damages to the aggrieyeaty “for each violation [ . . . ] involved in the action
in a sum of not less than $1,000 or more than $10,000, as the court conside#s/just.”
U.S.C. 8605(e)(3)(C)(i)(Il). The aggrieved party is the party holding any “proprietary
rights in the intercepted communicatibo7 U.S.C. 8605(d)(6). Section 605 also
permits an additional award of enhanced damages where “the court finds that tt
violation was committed willfully and for purposes of direct or indirect commergial
advantage or private financial gain.” 47 U.S.C.6@85(e)(3)(C)(). The Court has
discretion to award these enhanced damages in an amount of up to $1@0,000.

Here,Plaintiff seeks a totahwardof damages in the amount of $30,000. (Doec. 28
1 at 15). Specifically, Plaintiff reques$d0,000in statutory damages an@G000 in

enhanced statutory damadesl. Plaintiff contends that an award of damages iseh;

1%

amounts would “satisfy the purposes of compensating Plaintiff afidasct deterrent

°> The case ofloe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Donna Jean Chilleen, eisaimilar
to the present caseJoe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Chillee@V-13-08166-PCT-PGR,
2015 WL 2342111, at *1 (D. Ariz. May 14, 2015). In that case, the defendants|als
failed to respond to the plaintiff’s motion for summary hudgment as well as the request
for admissionsld. Accordingly, the Court stated, “[é:l]ll dhe relevant facts necessary 1o
establish the defendants’ liability under _|[47 U.S.C. §] 605 have been conclugively
established as a result of [defendants’] failure to respond to the requests for admissiol
including that they unlawfully intercepted therogram without the plaintiff's
authorization and that they did so willfully and for financial gaid.”

_ ® In the interest of completeness, the Court notes that there is a significan
discrepancy between the amount of damages Plaintiff requested migsnded
Complaint and the amount Plaintiff requested in its Motion for Summary Judg
Specifically, Plaintiffs Amended Complaint maintains that Plaintiff is entitled |to
statutory damages in the amount of $110,@880to each Defendant as a result |of
Defendants’ violation of § 605, or statutory damages in the amount of $65G0eesult
of Defendants’ violation of § 553. (Doc. 10 at 8). However, Plaintiff's Motion for
Summary Judgment onI%/ seeks a total awardstatutorydamages in the amount o
$30,000as a result of Defendants’ alleged violation of §.@0®c. 281 at 15). Plaintiff
does not request damages as a result of Defendants’ alleged violation ofirg i&53
Motion for Summary Judgmenid().

-10 -
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against future acts of piracy by both these Defendants and otlaers.”

Though there is no specific, established formula for calculating either statuto
enhanced damages under 47 U.S.C. 8 605, courts within this district commonly co
“factors such as the maximum capacity of the commeresdhblishment, the tota
number of patrons present at the time of the unauthorized showing, and the a
defendant would have paid if it had purchased the rights to show the broadcal
awarding statutory damage$.& J Sports Productions, Inc. v. \gas CV-11-02229-
PHX-JAT, 2013 WL 1249206, at *3 (D. Ariz. Mar. 27, 2018warding $4,000 in
statutory damages and $10,000 in enhanced damages where defendants acted
and illegally displaye@ program to 125130 patrons in an establishment witbagacity
of 150). In awarding enhanced damages, courts ‘foaysider prior infringements,
substantial unlawful monetary gains, significant actual damages to the plaintiff
defendant’s advertising of the broadcast, and the defendant’s charging a cover chi
premiums for food and drinks during the broadtasioe Hand Promotions, Inc. v
Pinkhasoy CV-11-02437PHX-FJM, 2012 WL 3641451, at *1 (D. Ariz. Aug. 24, 2012
(awarding $10,000 in statutory damages and $5,000 in enhanced damages
defend@nt charged a cover fee while illegally displaying a program in a business w
maximum capacity of 1,000 and where betweer268patrons were preser(guoting
Kingvision PayPer-View, Ltd. v. GuzmarCV-07-0963PHX-PGR,2008 WL 1924988,
at *3 (D. Ariz. Apr. 20, 2008) (awarding statutory damages in the amount of $1,000
enhanced damages in the amount of $3,000 where 10 patrons were present ang
defendant advertised the illegally shown program, but where there was no cover (
or allegations of prior infringement).

Plaintiff is also correct that deterrence is one of the objectigessideredin

awardingboth statutory and enhanced damages in claims brought under 47 U.S.C.
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Pinkhasoy2012 WL 3641451, at *1(awarding statutory damages after considering “the

goal of deterring cable piracy”)See also Joe Hand Promotions, Inc. v. Gdew-11-
2531PHX-JAT, 2012 WL 2919710, at *2 (D. Ariz. July 17, 2012) (holding th
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“enhanced damages are desirable in many cases because of their tendency to dets
violations™).

Here, Plaintiff’'s investigator, Amanda Hidalgo, stated in her affidavit t
Crossroads Bar & Grill has a maximum capacity of approximately 70 people and th
individuals were present within the Bar during hevestigation.(Doc. 282 at 2-3).

Plaintiff's investigatoralsoindicated that she saw the Program playing on four of the

televisions within the establishmend. Although Plaintiff's investigator does not

mention that the program was advertised in any manner or whether patrons of Cros
Bar & Grill had to pay a cover charge and/or premiums, Defendants have admitte
they advertised the program and charged a cover charge through their failure to re
to the requests for admissions. (Doc-2&t 8-36). Further, Plaintiff has submitteq
evidence indicating that ivould have cost Defendants $850.00 to legakhibit the
Programwithin Crossroads Bar & Grilby purchasing the sublicense fee from Plainti
(Doc. 284 at 3, 36). However, there is no specific evidence of a premium being chj
for food or drinks. Additionally, Plaintiff indicates in its Brief in Support of its Motiq
for Summary Judgment that this is the third allegation of piracy it has made ag
Defendants, noting that two additional cases against Defendants are pending but h
to be adjudicated. (Doc. 28-1 at 18).

Based on the evidence presenttet Court concludes that a statutory damag
award pursuant to 47 U.S.C. 8 G@R3)(C)()(II) in the amount of $3,000 is just
Further because the evidence indicates that Defendants’ violation was willful ang
purposes of both commercial and personal gain,Gbart alsoawards an enhancec
damages award pursuant to § 605(e)(3)(C)(ii) in the amount of $5,000.

Costs and Attorneys’ Fees

Plaintiff requests in its Complaint and in its Brief in Support of Motion f
Summary Judgment that it be permitted to file its request for attorneys’ fees and
(Doc. 281 at 20). Under 47 U.S.C. 8§ 605, the Court “shall direct the recovery of

costs, including awarding reasonable attorneys’ fees to an aggrieved party who pre
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47 U.S.C. 8§ 605(e)(3)(B)(iii). Plaintiff is directed to comply with LRG#4.1 and LRCiv
54.2 in applying for its costs and fe&eeAZ R USDCT LRCiv 54.1-.2.
IV. CONCLUSION

Therefore,

IT IS ORDERED that Plaintiff's Motion for Summary Judgment (Doc. 28)

S

GRANTED pursuant to Fed. R. Civ. P. 5 the extent that Plaintiff is awarded the su
of $8,000from Defendants Lisa Marie Donaldson and Crossroads B & G Family Lim
Partnership pursuant to 47 U.S.C6@5/ The Clerk of the Court shall enter judgme
for Plaintiff accordingly.

IT IS FURTHER ORDERED that Plaintiff shall file its request for athey’s
fees and costs in compliance with this Court’s Local Rules.

Dated this 15thlay ofJune, 2016.

_ " The Court notes that Plaintif’'s Amended Complaint also alleges claims u
Title 47 U.S.C. § 553Seg(Doc. 10 at 68). However, in moving for summary judgmer
Sas opposed to partial summary judgment), Plaintiff failed to mention these claims

7 U.SC. 8§ 553. Accordln%ly, the Court deems Plaintiff’s claims under 47 U.S.C. §
to be waived. SeeFed. R. Civ. P. 56(a) advisory committee’s note to 2010 amendr
(explaining “that summary judgment may be requested not only as to an entire ca
also as to a claim, defense, or part of a claim or defense” and that “partial sum
judgment’ . . . describe[s] disposition of less than the whole actice8; generally
Jenkins v. Cty of Riversid898 F.3d 1093, 1095 (9thir. 2005) (observing that part
“abandoned” two claims plead in complaint “by not raising them in opposition to
[defendant]’s motion for summary judgment”).
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